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 FUNDRAISING HIGHLIGHTS

  From bike rides to 
bake offs, to corporate 
partnerships to quiz nights, 
we are incredibly grateful 
for the money raised to 
support UCLH. Thank you 
to everyone.   

1  Proceeds from the Deliveroo 
#FortheMidwives Christmas 
campaign starring UCLH 
midwife Katy raised £100K for 
UCLH Charity

2  There was no mountain high 
enough for #TeamUCLH on the 
Pyrenees cycle challenge

3  Hundreds gathered on a sunny 
Sunday afternoon for the 
London Bridgathon

4  UCH newsagent Norman 
donated funds to buy equipment 
for UCLH cancer services 

5  #TeamHaem consisting of 
65 nurses took on the tough 
mudder challenge

6  Supporters bake cakes, get 
muddy and do so much to 
support UCLH Charity

7  Running the Royal Parks Half  
for UCLH Charity 
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Making a 
difference for 
patients at UCLH
Our mission is to improve the lives of patients 
at UCLH. We do this by supporting projects 
which transform health care. With your help, 
we can make an even bigger difference.

  OVERVIEW
 1  Making a difference to 

patients at UCLH

 2 Message from our Chairman

 3 Covid-19 response

 4 About us

 4 Our objectives

 5 Our impact

  OUR GRANTS
 9  Supporting patient care

 10 Training and developing staff

 11 Environment and equipment

 12 Advancing research

  TRUSTEES’ REPORT
 13  Strategic report and financial 

review

17  Structure, governance and 
management

19  Statement of Trustees 
responsibilities

20  Independent auditor’s report 
to the members

  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
22  Consolidated statement of 

financial activities

23  Charity only statement of 
financial activities

24 Consolidated balance sheet

25 Charity only balance sheet

26  Consolidated statement of 
cash flows

27 Notes to the accounts

44  Reference and administrative 
information

OUR YEAR  
IN NUMBERS

£21.9M
Total income for 2019–20

£22.7M
Total spend for 2019–20

Total spent on charitable 
activities for 2019–20

£14.6M

Front cover: our funding of the state-of-the-
art equipment in the new Eastman Dental 
Education Centre will provide world class 
training for the dental teams of tomorrow.



Welcome to the charity’s 
annual report

Message from our Chairman
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UCLH has been at the forefront of 
the response to Covid-19.  From 
frontline staff working in ITU to 
behind the scenes staff working hard 
to ensure everyone has what they 
need to provide safe, high quality 
care, UCLH has pulled together 
in an incredible demonstration of 
what true team work can achieve. 
As well as reorganising services to 
care for the local area’s most poorly 
Covid-19 patients, UCLH has worked 
with other hospitals to ensure that 
patients without Covid-19 are cared 
for safely.

UCLH’s culture of research and 
innovation has also prevailed. It was 
wonderful to see the UCLH/UCL/
Mercedes collaboration involving 
ITU expert and charity trustee 
Professor Mervyn Singer, to develop 
a new CPAP breathing aid device at 
lightning speed. It is also pleasing to 
see the charity-funded Experimental 
Medicine Application Platform 
(EMAP) playing a significant role at 

the centre of UCLH’s research into 
Covid-19.

The pandemic generated an 
outpouring of gratitude from the 
general public. We have been almost 
overwhelmed by donations and 
gifts in kind to support staff and we 
are incredibly grateful to everyone.   
Special thanks to Feed the NHS, 
Leon, local restaurants and donors 
for nutritious meals, to the Wellcome 
Collection for the provision of a 
respite centre and to Derwent for 
providing accommodation at the 
time of greatest need.

Although Covid-19 has dominated 
the latter part of the reporting year, 
it would be remiss not to mention 
some of the key projects we have 
funded in 2019/20.  Grants include 
an extension of the Chief Executive 
Fellowships which are designed to 
embed a research culture at UCLH; 
supporting staff to become Epic 
super users thereby ensuring a 
safe, effective roll out of the new 
electronic health record system 
and the funding of numerous 
programmes to retain, nurture 
and develop the UCLH workforce. 
In a UK first, we have also funded 
a project that will pull data from 
patient wearables  into  electronic 
patient records.  This will enable 
health data to be viewed as part of 
an overall clinical picture of health 
and will aid research. 

In February, I was honoured to be 
present when Her Majesty The Queen 
opened the new Royal National ENT 

James Thorne
Chairman

and Eastman Dental Hospitals. Our 
funding includes an art installation 
in the reception area that brings the 
heritage of two great institutions 
into one single centre of excellence 
and the state-of-the art virtual reality 
dental training equipment to train the 
dental staff of the future.

This is my last year as Chair of 
UCLH Charity.  In the last 10 years, 
I have seen the Charity evolve 
tremendously. We have just agreed 
to fund an exciting robotic expansion 
which will make UCLH the leading 
robotic surgical hub in the UK. Our 
activities have grown over that time 
with ambitious property projects 
to provide invaluable support to 
patients and staff at UCLH.  

I have taken enormous pleasure and 
pride in the work of the Charity in 
supporting the Trust. The Charity 
benefits from an efficient and 
effective management team and I 
am tremendously grateful to them 
for all they do on behalf of the 
Charity. I would also like to thank my 
dedicated fellow Trustees who bring 
wisdom, enthusiasm and focus, as 
well as a certain amount of fun, to 
the role. I am confident this will all 
continue under my successor as 
Chairman, Lord Hemphill, and I wish 
them all  the very best for the future.

I am writing this after nearly six months of the pandemic. It 
is very difficult to know what the future holds, but I do know 
that 2020 is a year none of us will forget.
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   COVID-19 
RESPONSE

  UCLH was at the centre  
of London’s response to 
the Covid-19 pandemic 
from the beginning. 
Frontline clinicians, 
support staff and those 
working behind the 
scenes came together 
to meet the challenges 
presented by the most 
significant health 
emergency of our times.

1  As shelves emptied early on  
in the pandemic, our 
fundraising team were hands 
on to distribute shopping bags 
of essential items for staff 
unable to get to shops 

2  We sourced over 20 fridges 
to ensure staff had access to 
nutritious meals while working 
long shifts

3  We distributed over 4,000 treat 
bags for staff to promote well 
being and self care, and to 
boost morale

4  UCLH Charity CEO Philip 
Brading helped deliver meals 
as part of the #FeedtheNHS 
project 

5  The emergency Covid-19 
appeal has attracted lovely 
messages of support and 
gratitude as well as significant 
funds to support staff

6  Prof Singer led a UCL/UCLH 
collaboration with Mercedes 
Benz to develop a new 
breathing aid machine

7  Three UCLH clinicians 
organised floral and balloon 
arches outside our hospitals 
joining the national’s message 
of thanks to NHS staff
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 TRAINING AND  
 DEVELOPING STAFF

We provide funding for training  
and education to ensure that staff  
at UCLH are kept up-to-date with 
health care developments and are 
able to apply the latest clinical 
techniques to help patients. 

Our charity supports UCLH 
NHS Foundation Trust, and our 
work focuses on four objectives 
to improve life for patients:
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About us

We provide grants for projects ‘over 
and above’ what the University 
College London Hospitals (UCLH) 
NHS Foundation Trust can 
realistically provide. This includes 
improvement to clinical services, 
specialist equipment, enhancements 
to the environment and funding for 
pioneering research projects.  
We also support UCLH staff through 
training and development and 
wellbeing initiatives, so that they  
can provide the best possible care.  

OUR HISTORY 

UCLH Charity was established as a 
result of several restructures and 
mergers. In April 2000 three separate 
charities – UCH Special Trustees, 
UCLH NHS Charity and Middlesex 
Hospital Special Trustees – merged  
to become UCLH Charity. In April 
2017, we became an independent 
charity regulated by the Charity 
Commission. 

 OUR STRATEGY

  Our mission to support patient 
care at UCLH is delivered by four 
strategic aims: 

1  Ensure that the Charity is run 
efficiently by knowledgeable 
trustees and effective staff, 
adhering to good governance, 
guided by the strategic direction of 
UCLH NHS Foundation Trust

2  Optimise capital through the 
investment strategy

3  Optimise income by investing in 
commercial opportunities and 
property 

4  Award grants that go ‘over and 
above’ NHS provision in line with 
strategic priorities at UCLH

 ABOUT UCLH

  UCLH is made up of the following 
hospitals:

•  University College Hospital 
(incorporating the Elizabeth Garrett 
Anderson Wing, the Macmillan 
Cancer Centre, UCH at Westmoreland 
Street and the Institute of Sport, 
Exercise and Health)

• Hospital for Tropical Diseases

•  National Hospital for Neurology and 
Neurosurgery at Queen Square and 
Cleveland Street

•  The Royal London Hospital for 
Integrated Medicine

•  The Royal National ENT and  
Eastman Dental Hospitals

 ENVIRONMENT  
 AND EQUIPMENT

We fund state-of-the-art 
equipment to enable UCLH to 
provide the best patient care. 
We also provide funding to make 
the hospital environment more 
pleasant for patients and visitors 
during their stay.

  ADVANCING 
RESEARCH

We fund a wide range of  
clinical research projects at 
UCLH which translates cutting-
edge research and innovation 
into new and improved 
treatments for patients.

OUR FUTURE AMBITIONS

The pandemic of 2020 will change 
how the NHS works – we will 
support UCLH as it adapts to the 
new normal, as well as continuing 
to support the Trust’s ambitions 
to become a world class research 
hospital.

In the next year, the new cancer 
and surgery building will open.  
We have set aside £28m for this 
game changing facility which will 
create Europe’s largest centre for 
blood diseases, a new short stay 
surgery centre and the proton beam 
therapy for rare cancers.  We are 
also investing in a robotic surgery 
programme (see page 12), which 
will support pioneering surgery, aid 
research and improve patient care 
and outcomes.

 SUPPORTING 
 PATIENT CARE

We support the Trust’s strategy to 
improve the patient experience at 
UCLH. All our activities are aimed at 
making patients’ lives better.

UCLH Charity is the official charity of University College 
London Hospitals (UCLH) NHS Foundation Trust, one of the 
largest and most complex hospital trusts in the country.

OUR OBJECTIVES
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Two great institutions became one 
in October 2019 when a brand new 
specialist centre, the Royal National 
ENT and Eastman Dental Hospitals, 
opened for treatment of ear, nose 
and throat and dental conditions. 
We supported several projects for 
the new hospital, including state-
of-the-art teaching equipment, 

backlit ceiling installations to 
distract patients having dental 
treatment and initiatives to support 
staff transitioning to new ways of 
working. We also funded a number of 
art commissions within the hospital 
to improve the patient experience 
and preserve the heritage of the two 
famous hospitals.

Supporting the Royal National ENT 
and Eastman Dental Hospitals

Our impact

Some of the charity-funded 
projects that have come to 
fruition in 2019/2020 include 
advanced training facilities, 
environmental uplifts, 
boredom busting activities 
for patients and support for 
vulnerable young people. 



State-of-the-art dental 
training equipment
The Eastman is Europe’s largest 
postgraduate dental education 
centre. Students learn a large 
proportion of their ‘hands-on’ 
skills by practising on a ‘phantom 
head’, traditionally a mannequin 
head, before undertaking 
treatment of patients. The 
traditional phantom heads alone 
do not provide a high level of 
preclinical skills for patient based 
procedures. We have funded 
virtual reality phantom heads  
offering state-of-the-art dental 
training which allow students to 
practise on patient specific  
3D models via an easy import of 
intra-oral scans of their patient. 

The new training equipment uses latest available technology and virtual reality to enable students 
to perform typical dental procedures as close to real life as you can possibly get.

UCLH Charity Chairman welcomes Her Majesty The Queen at the formal opening of the 
Royal National ENT and Eastman Dental Hospitals in February 2020. 
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Boredom busting!
Being in hospital often means 
lots of time spent doing very 
little. Creative specialist Dr Lizzie 
Burns brings colour, beauty and 
entertainment to patients through a 
range of boredom boredom busting 
activities which we continue to 
fund. In 2019, Lizzie worked with 
the Royal College of Pathologists to 
create Incredible You, a colouring in 
resource showing the complexity of 
the body in tiny scale.
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Origami activities are just one part of the boredom busting programme, bringing creativity, 
beauty and colour to wards across UCLH. 



Staff and patients received awards at 
the Celebrating Excellence awards.
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 OTHER WAYS WE’VE MADE A DIFFERENCE

•  Provided funding for the Celebrating Excellence awards which recognise 
and celebrate contributions made by staff in a number of different 
categories at UCLH. Nominated by staff and in some instances patients, 
the awards culminate in a special ceremony where nominees gather to 
receive their awards applauded by their colleagues.

•  Supported an arts and heritage programme which includes art, music and 
a new culture club for staff.

•  Funded a flourishing staff networks team who’ve organised a programme 
of extremely well attended events focusing on BAME, mental health and 
disabilities.

•  Funded a well received thank you campaign to staff after the successful 
transition to Epic, our new Electronic Health Record System. 

•  Contributed to the brilliant youth volunteering programme, giving under 
18s opportunities to get involved in different volunteering roles.  As of 
January 2020, the successful scheme, which included Super Saturdays 
and a summer volunteering programme, saw volunteers give 1,745 hours 
of their time and support patients 22,483 times.

Supporting young 
vulnerable people

In December 2019 the Youth Violence 
Intervention Programme went live 
in the emergency department at 
University College Hospital. Together 
with Camden and Islington borough 
councils, we are funding this service, 
run by youth charity Redthread, to 
support young people aged 11 – 24 
who are victims of exploitation and 
assault. 
Every year hundreds of young people 
present to emergency departments 
with injuries that suggest stabbing, 
criminal or gang related activity. 

Thanking staff for their huge efforts to 
implement Epic. 

The Redthread team is based at UCLH’s 
emergency department.

The Youth Violence Intervention 
Programme embeds specialist 
youth workers alongside clinical 
teams in emergency departments. 

Redthread’s experience in similar 
settings suggests there is a moment 
of vulnerability, when young people 
are out of their comfort zone, 
alienated from their peers, and often 
coming to terms with the effects of 
injury, which can prompt change. By 
providing specialist intervention at 
this ‘teachable moment’ Redthread 
workers can support young people 
in making healthy choices and 
positive plans to disrupt the cycle  
of violence.
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Our 2019/20 grants

uclhcharity.org.uk/does/supporting-patient-care

The UCLH Charity grant programme ensures that charitable funds are 
used to benefit patient care and support the Trust’s strategic direction. 
Here is an overview of some of the grants awarded in 2019/20.

Technology 
enabled outpatient 
transformation
In a UK first, this project will 
pull data from fitness trackers 
and health apps into a patient’s 
electronic health record which 
can be viewed by clinical teams. 
In parallel, technology enabled 
outpatient care models will 
measure cardiorespiratory fitness, 
nutritional status and psychological 
preparedness of patients before 
and after major surgery. The project 
will improve patient experience, 
provide safer surgical outcomes, 
reduce pressure on clinical staff 
and generate data for research and 
clinical improvement purposes. 

Supporting MyCare 
UCLH
We are funding MyCare UCLH, the 
patient portal that allows patients 
to access some of their care record 
from anywhere via an app or PC. As 
well as directly assisting patients 
with technical issues, a focus 
on clinical engagement will help 
clinicians promote further take up 
to their patients, and ensure that the 
portal meets their specialty’s needs. 
Use of MyCare UCLH will improve 
administration and communication 
and enhance care.

Supporting  
patient care

£2.0M
Spent on projects 

aimed at improving 
patient care 

Supporting 
neurosurgery
Treatment for blood clots in the 
brain, or vascular malformation 
is time critical and requires 
intervention from a specialist 
vascular neurosurgeon to provide 
safer care and better outcomes. 
We are funding the establishment 
of a regional neurovascular clot 
rota for north London giving 
local people access to the timely, 
specialist care they need 24/7. The 
National Hospital for Neurology and 
Neurosurgery will be the network 
hub for this provision.
 

Extending the medical 
thrombectomy service
Following a 2017 grant to extend 
the medical thrombectomy (MT) 
service, we are providing further 
funding so that the service is 
available 24 hours a day, seven 
days a week. MT and clot-busting 
treatment can significantly reduce 
the severity of disability caused by 
a stroke. Expanded MT services 
will allow 1,600 more people to be 
independent after their stroke this 
year across England. As the north 
central London’s regional specialist 
centre, UCLH can help local people 
recover more fully from a stroke as 
a result of this extended service. 



Supporting workforce 
innovation
Advanced Clinical Practitioners 
(ACPs) are a new type of workforce 
in the Emergency Department and 
are usually senior nurses who can 
look after patients with a wide 
range of pathologies from the 
life-threatening to the self-limiting. 
UCLH plans to train up to 20 ACPs 
over the next five years and reduce 
the reliance on locum doctors, at 
the same time to become  one of 
the largest centres for credentialed 
ACPs in the UK.

Similarly, we are funding an 
exciting project to grow and 
develop Anaesthesia Associates 
(AAs). AAs are highly trained 
and skilled practitioners who 
work within an anaesthetic team 
under the guidance of consultant 
anaesthetists. With rising demand 
and recruitment issues more AAs 
are needed. This programme will 
establish the only London training 
centre and a pilot AA training 
programme led by expert teams  
at UCL and UCLH.

Supporting staff  
well-being
We are funding a clinical 
psychologist to support the  
300 staff in ED, AMU and ITU in 
order to overcome violence and 
aggression that they encounter,  
and the traumatic emotional  
clinical situations that they find 
themselves in. 

Training and 
developing staff

£8.4M
Spent on projects to 
support training and  

developing staff 

Boosting the flu 
campaign
This proposal aimed to increase 
uptake of the staff flu vaccination 
programme at UCLH through a 
new, highly visible and sustained 
flu vaccination campaign across 
multiple channels to engage more 
staff and provide a fresh approach 
to the ‘get your flu jab message’. 

Creating an Epic expert 
community
To ensure Epic, the electronic health 
record system launched in 2019, 
is fully utilised to support UCLH’s 
ambition to be a digitally-enabled 
research hospital, this funding 
will aid programmes to develop 
super users and an expert builder 
community.

Extended funding for:
Virtual reality (VR) to support 
assessment of technical skills at 
interview. After contributing to a  
6% reduction in the vacancy rate 
and a 5% reduction in nursing 
turnover during the Queen Square 
pilot, we are funding 1,000 more  
VR assessments to be used  
across UCLH. 

The bespoke leadership 
development programme which will 
allow 24 more UCLH sisters/charge 
nurses to develop their skills.

uclhcharity.org.uk/does/training-and-developing-staff
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New equipment to 
support blood diseases 
research
We are part funding a flow 
cytometer to improve the treatment 
of non-malignant blood diseases, 
namely Thrombocytopenic 
Thrombotic Purpura (TTP) and 
Immune Thrombocytopenia (ITP).
The equipment will allow research 
staff to be self-sufficient with 
immediate access to run patient 
samples with the aim to deliver more 
specific and personalised treatment, 
reducing unnecessary therapies and 
by predicting effective care plans, 
avoiding side effects.

Making the children 
and young people’s 
emergency department 
more welcoming
We are funding a project to 
transform the current environment 
of the children and young people’s 
department at UCLH. The use of 
friendly signage, wall art, new colour 
scheme and information slides will 
create a unique age-appropriate, 
welcoming space. This will help to 
provide a distraction and alleviate 
anxieties of the many patients, 
families and carers who visit the 
department each year. The Design 
Council’s research indicate that 
design solutions have also reduced 
non-physical hostility and frustration 
of waiting times and thus improved 
patient experience.
 

Environment and 
equipment

Gold standard swallow 
assessments for stroke 
patients
We are funding Fibreoptic 
Endoscopic Evaluation of Swallow 
(FEES) equipment on the Hyper 
Acute Stroke Unit (HASU). This 
gold standard equipment assesses 
the risk of swallowing disorder and 
aspiration (when food and or fluids 
go to the lungs not the stomach).  
Both of these conditions can cause 
complications and lead to poor 
outcomes and reduced quality of 
life. Currently not available to HASU 
patients, FEES is preferable to other 
methods because it is portable 
and so can be conducted at the 
bedside on patients unable to leave 
the ward. It is also immediate so 
swallowing problems are picked 
up quickly, is repeatable (with no 
radiation exposure) and can be done 
over a meal time. Accurate, timely 
assessment using such equipment 
can significantly improve outcomes 
and allows for tailored, individual 
eating and drinking protocols.  

uclhcharity.org.uk/does/environment-and-equipment

£2.8M
Spent on projects to 

improve environments 
and pay for specialist 

equipment



World class robotics 
surgery programme
Covid-19 prompted a reorganisation 
of NHS services like never before 
with local partnerships formed 
quickly so patients who needed 
urgent care could be treated, as well 
as those affected by the pandemic. 
At this time of considerable change, 
we received proposals to invest in 
UCLH’s robotic surgery programme. 
UCLH is already an established 
centre of excellence for this type of 
surgery and the benefits – reduced 
reliance on ITU beds, quicker 
recovery, fewer days in hospital 
and better patient outcomes – will 
be hugely beneficial in the ‘new 
normal’ NHS. We are very excited to 
fund new and updated equipment 
to enable better patient care and 
to consolidate UCLH’s position as 
a world class centre for care and 
research in robotic surgery.

Clinical data science 
research fellows
With excellent IT infrastructure, 
partnerships with key academic 
institutions and an ambition to be a 
research hospital, UCLH is very well 
positioned to take a leading role in 
health care data science. Ongoing 
projects focus on data science to 
improve medicine and provision 
of services. Building on the very 
successful existing model of charity 
funded clinical research fellows, we 
are funding 32 clinical data science 
research fellows over two years, 
making data science accessible to 
a new generation of doctors. These 
fellowships are aimed at junior 
doctors who are involved or who 
are willing to be involved in data 
science projects at UCLH and will 
see a 50/50 split of clinical work/
data science. 

Fast track research 
The fast track scheme is a 
collaboration between the NIHR 
UCLH Biomedical Research and 
UCLH Charity that awards grants 
to enable researchers to build pilot 
data for larger research projects 
that require significant funding 
from external bodies. The Clinical 
Research and Development 
Committee oversees this scheme 
and this year awarded funds for 
eight projects  including a study to 
identify biomarkers of remission in 
rheumatoid arthritis and  a novel 
target for dual protection against 
acute and chronic effects of  
cardiac ischaemia.
 

Advancing 
research
uclhcharity.org.uk/does/advancing-research
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£1.3M
Spent on projects 

to advance 
research

New cancer and surgery 
centre
In autumn 2020 UCLH will open a 
new cancer and surgery building 
which will be home to one of only 
two locations for the provision of 
proton beam therapy (an advanced 
form of radiotherapy) and Europe’s 
largest centre for the treatment of 
blood diseases.  The facility will also 
include a state-of-the-art short stay 
surgery centre.  UCLH Charity has 
earmarked £28million towards this 
game charging development.

FUTURE PROJECTS
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The trustees have pleasure in presenting their annual 
report for the purposes of the Charities Act 2011, 
together with the accounts for the year ended 31 March 
2020 for University College London Hospitals Charity 
(UCLH Charity). The report is also a directors’ report 
as required by S.415 of the Companies Act 2006. The 
trustees have used the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland 
(FRS 102) and follow the Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland in preparing 
the annual report and accounts of the charity.

PUBLIC BENEFIT
It is the intention of the trustees that the charitable funds 
should be used to expand on and develop the services 
provided by University College London Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, by funding innovative and original 
projects which would not otherwise be possible using 
only central NHS funds. In formulating and applying 
these objects and planning the work of the charity, the 
trustees have due regard for Charity Commission’s 
general guidance on public benefit. 

The Covid-19 pandemic reached the UK during the last 
quarter of the year ended 31 March 2020. UCLH has 
been at the forefront of the response to the virus. Since 
then, with the generosity of the public, the charity has 
concentrated its efforts in ensuring UCLH frontline 
staff are cared for in order for them to provide safe and 
effective treatments to patients.

STRATEGY, PLANNING AND MEASUREMENT 
In order to work towards its objectives, the charity 
undertakes regular strategic reviews, based on 
discussions with UCLH NHS Foundation Trust senior 
staff. Each review helps the charity to understand the 
direction of the Foundation Trust, the issues it faces, and 
how the charity can best support it as it moves forward. 

Follow-up reports are received from grant recipients to 
gather evidence on how effective the charity’s funding 
has been. Most projects take some time to show 
measurable results and the benefits accrue gradually, so 
the results of grants made in one accounting period may 
not emerge until future years.

BALANCE SHEET
The group and the charity’s financial positions are 
summarised on pages 24 and 25 respectively.

The Cotton Rooms patient accommodation, which 
occupies the top two floors of 170 Tottenham Court 
Road, a property owned by the charity, is classified as a 
tangible fixed asset, since it is used to provide services 
to the charity’s beneficiaries. It was valued at £9.1m at 31 
March 2020 (2019: £9.1m). 

The Middlesex Annexe was bought in March 2017 and 
the purchase cost and other associated fees have also 
been classified as a tangible fixed asset, since the 
property is still under construction. The property was 
transferred to Middlesex Annexe LLP on 1 April 2018 
on a long lease and has continued to be developed by 
the LLP. This has been renamed the Bedford Passage 
Development and was valued at £27.9m at 31 March 
2020 (2019: £21.1m).

The group’s total tangible fixed assets were valued at 
£40.4m at 31 March 2020 (2019: £33.9m).

Investment properties accounted for £65.1m of the 
group’s assets (2019: £67.6m), with a further £39.5m 
represented by listed investments (2019: £41.5m). 
Further details of investment performance are below. 
Debtors stood at £8.0m (2019: £7.5m), and the charity 
held £37.1m of cash at bank at 31 March 2020. This 
compares to cash of £43.7m at 31 March 2019.

The charity’s main liabilities were its grant creditors, 
which stood at £17.0m (2019: £16.6m) and a bank loan 
from Handelsbanken of £10m (2019: £10m). Total current 
liabilities were £31.7m at 31 March 2020 (2019: £21.0m). 

The balance sheet stood at £157.4m at 31 March 2020 
(2019: £161.7m).

STRATEGIC REPORT AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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 INCOME: GROUP BASIS 2020 2019
  £’000 £’000

01 Donations and legacies 9,774 8,149
02 Turnover of subsidiary companies 5,706 5,228
03 Investment income 5,077 4,855 
04 Charitable activities, other  
 fundraising activities and  
 other income 1,381 1,280

  21,938 19,512

EXPENDITURE: GROUP BASIS  2020 2019
    £’000 £’000

05 Cost of generating donations 885 751
  and legacies
06 Operating costs of subsidiary 5,523 4,986
  companies and other fundraising  
  trading activities
07 Investment and property 1,660 1,653
  management costs
08 Medical equipment and 2,825 1,333
  infrastructure
09 Provision of staff and 3,139 3,422
  professional services
10  Patient welfare and amenities 2,038 2,041
11  Medical research 1,338 2,072
12  Staff education and development 5,261 2,348

    22,669 18,606

Expenditure was £22.7m compared to £18.6m for the 
same period last year. This was largely due to a large 
grant given for equipment at the new Royal National 
ENT and Eastman Dental Hospitals which opened in 
October 2019. 

Staff education and development costs were also 
higher this year, as a grant for £3m for the Education 
Centre was written back in 2018-19.

Grant expenditure and expenditure from discretionary 
funds are by their nature unpredictable and so 
spending between the different categories of charitable 
activities is not necessarily consistent from one 
financial year to another.

 

Income was £21.9m for the year, £2.4m higher than 
last year. This was mainly due to more donations 
and legacies being received during the year. These 
are the charity’s largest source of funding, and the 
majority of them are ring-fenced in discretionary 
funds for consultants, departments and wards. The 
charity’s arrangement of working closely with clinical 
staff means that this key funding stream is targeted 
very directly at the priorities identified by clinicians, 
who are best placed to see how funds can be used to 
benefit patients.
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INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
As at 31 March 2020, the trustees held investment 
assets with a market value of £104.6m (2019: £109.1m), 
consisting of £37.9m held with investment managers, 
£1.0m held in common investment funds and £65.1m 
in investment properties. As a result of the sale of 
Inventive Medical Ltd in 2016-17, the charity holds shares 
in MedaPhor Group plc which were valued at £0.6m at 
the year end. 

During the year, the charity made net investment losses 
of £3.6m (2019: gains of £1.9m), which related mainly to 
its investment properties. Further details are provided 
in note 15 to the accounts, including the breakdown 
between listed investments and investment properties.

The coronavirus pandemic had a significant impact 
on investment performance at the year end. The value 
of the charity’s investment portfolios subsequently 
recovered, but the value of its investment properties is 
still subject to some uncertainty.

The majority of listed investments are held with Sarasin 
& Partners LLP. The charity also owns a number of 
investment properties which provide residential and 
office accommodation, and in addition holds some units 
in the COIF Charities Investment Fund, managed by 
CCLA Investment Management Ltd, and some residual 
investments with Cazenove Capital Management.

Investments in stocks and shares are made in 
accordance with a Charity Commission Scheme dated 
27 March 2017. The charity’s governing documents 
allow the trustees to invest in a wide range of shares 
and investments provided they are not speculative 
or hazardous. The trustees require their investment 
managers to invest in a diversified portfolio of 
investments to provide growth of both capital and 
income over the long term, whilst avoiding exposing 
the charity’s assets to unacceptable high levels of 
risk. Investment is not made directly or indirectly in 
companies which derive 10% or more of their revenue 
from the sale of tobacco or tobacco products. The 
trustees have delegated oversight of listed investment 
matters to the investment sub-committee.

Investment performance is continuously monitored and 
measured in-house, against trustees’ and investment 
management benchmarks on a monthly basis. 
Investment advisers meet with the officers regularly and 
with the trustees twice a year to discuss strategies and 
performance. The trustees remain satisfied that their 
investment objectives are being met. 

The trustees have delegated oversight of properties to 
the property sub-committee who meet regularly with 
the officers and property advisers to discuss operational 
and strategic activities. A desktop revaluation of the 
charity’s investment properties was carried out as at 
31 March 2020, in line with the requirements of the 
Charities’ Statement of Recommended Practice.

As a consequence of the coronavirus pandemic, less 
weight can be attached to previous market evidence 
to inform opinions of value and The Royal Institute 
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) has announced that 
valuations using the RICS Red Book guidance are now 
reported on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ 
as per VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Red Book Global. 
Consequently, less certainty can be attached to these 
valuations than would normally be the case. This applies 
to all property valuations in the UK. 

RESERVES 
At 31 March 2020, the total funds of the group amounted 
to £157.4m. A full breakdown is shown in note 20.

Endowment funds totalled £6.8m (2019: £7.1m) and 
restricted funds amounted to £3.1m (2019: £2.9m). A 
further £54.2m (2019: £53.5m) was held in discretionary 
funds which have been designated for the support 
of consultants, departments and wards. For these 
funds, decisions over spending are delegated to senior 
clinical staff, so the funds are not available for general 
application by the charity. 

Discretionary funds included a figure of £27.9m (2019: 
£27.9m) which has been set aside for the Foundation 
Trust with a view to it being used in the near future for 
the hospital’s new cancer and surgery centre. This is 
in construction and will incorporate the new proton 
beam therapy unit and additional patient beds for those 
receiving long-term cancer care. A further £12.9m (2019: 
£13.9m) is held in other designated funds, under the 
control of the trustees but ring-fenced for specific projects.

The trustees have ongoing commitments relating 
to the welfare of both patients and staff. Apart from 
donations and legacies, which are by their nature 
unpredictable, the income received by the charity’s 
undesignated funds is primarily derived from 
investments and property rental. The trustees therefore 
consider that there is a need to maintain a level of free 
reserves to generate sufficient income to meet these 
commitments, allowing for fluctuations in the returns 
that these investments generate. 

The charity’s expenditure varies from year to year and is 
often significant on any one project, be it the purchase 
of expensive medical equipment or a major capital 
scheme. A substantial level of free reserves is required 
both to meet known likely expenditure up to two or three 
years’ forward and unforeseen expenditure. 

The level of undesignated general funds excluding funds 
relating to trading companies at 31 March 2020 was 
£81.2m. However, the charity has investment properties 
of £65.1m and tangible fixed assets of £9.1m which 
are of strategic importance. The funds represented by 
these assets are not immediately available for use in 
the charity’s activities so the level of reserves which the 
charity has available for its activities is £7.0m. 

STRATEGIC REPORT AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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The charity continuously monitors the level of reserves 
to ensure that commitments can be met, and the 
trustees review the reserves policy on an annual 
basis. The trustees have set a target level of reserves 
between £5m and £10m and consider that the level of 
free reserves at 31 March 2020 is adequate to meet the 
charity’s needs.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The trustees recognise that they have a responsibility to 
minimise the level of risk to which their activities could 
be exposed. They actively review the major risks which 
the group and charity face on a regular basis and believe 
that the maintenance of reserves, combined with the 
annual review of the controls over key financial systems 
will provide sufficient resources for committed grants in 
the event of adverse conditions.

UCLH Charity assesses risks for both likelihood 
of occurrence and potential financial impact, with 
procedures established to mitigate these as far as 
possible. Risks which score highly on both scales are 
monitored closely. At present, the most serious risks 
the charity has identified fall into two broad categories; 
investments and investment property. The charity 
considers that appropriate mitigating procedures are in 
place in both these areas, supported by the existence 
of specialist sub-committees on each area reporting to 
the trustees. In particular, lack of appropriate investment 
policies or poor investment performance, which could 
lead to financial loss, is mitigated by the involvement of 
professional investment management firms who meet 
regularly with the trustees and officers. The risk of a 
property market collapse, which could have a significant 
impact on the value of the charity’s investment 
properties, is mitigated by the fact that the properties 
are held by the charity as long-term investments and 
long-term rental agreements are held with tenants, the 
majority of which are UCLH NHS Foundation Trust or 
University College London. The risks associated with 
the significant capital project currently being undertaken 
are mitigated by the use of professional advisors and 
regular monitoring procedures are in place. 

FUNDRAISING
UCLH Charity aims to achieve best practice in the way in 
which it communicates with donors and other supporters 
and is registered with the Fundraising Regulator. It 
takes care with both the tone of its communications and 
the accuracy of its data to minimise the pressures on 
supporters. It applies best practice to protect supporters’ 
data and never sells data, never swaps data and ensures 
that communication preferences can be changed at any 
time. The charity undertakes to react to and investigate 
any complaints regarding its fundraising activities and 
to learn from them and improve its services. During 
the year, the charity received no complaints about its 
fundraising activities. Third party fundraisers are not 

  used. The charity supports the fundraising strategy of 
UCLH NHS Foundation Trust and their priority is to raise 
funds for the new cancer and surgery centre.

 PLANS FOR FUTURE PERIODS
  The coronavirus pandemic of 2020 had a huge impact 

on the NHS. UCLH Charity set up a fundraising appeal to 
support the hospital staff which received an outpouring 
of support from the public. These funds will be used for 
various projects including:

•  The Care 1st wellbeing service providing psychological 
and welfare support for staff, particularly on the 
frontline;

•  Refurbishment to on-call overnight rooms at University 
College Hospital at Westmoreland Street;

•  Dedicated rest and wellbeing spaces at the hospitals and 
the improvement of existing facilities for staff to relax 
and recharge

  During April and May, the charity was instrumental 
in administering funds for the national Feed the NHS 
campaign organised by Damian Lewis and the restaurant 
chain Leon, to provide free hot meals to NHS staff. It 
also received many donations of free meals and other 
items ranging from clothing to hand creams to help staff 
cope with the crisis. 

  Covid-19 necessitated a huge reorganisation of local 
NHS services and local partnerships were formed 
quickly. In 2020-21, the charity will make a grant of 
almost £5m to improve UCLH’s programme of robotic 
surgery by providing new and updated robots to enable 
the best possible care for patients. 

 Over the next five years, the charity plans:

•  To make a grant of £27.9m to UCLH for its new cancer 
and surgery centre. This grant will be the largest ever 
made by the charity;

•  To expand fundraising activities and raise the profile 
of the charity within the hospitals and the community 
which they serve;

•  To generate new income streams, particularly through 
the project to develop the Bedford Passage;

•  To provide ongoing support to UCLH for the projects 
which they consider to be most beneficial, ensuring that 
these are over and above NHS provision.

STRATEGIC REPORT AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

UCLH CHARITY STRUCTURE
Following a restructuring process supported by the 
Department of Health and the Charity Commission, 
University College London Hospitals Charity 
reconstituted as a charitable company limited by 
guarantee registered with the Charity Commission 
(no.1165398) and Companies House (09980449). The 
charity is an incorporated organisation and operates 
under a Charity Commission Scheme dated 27 March 
2017 and the trustees are members of the charitable 
company. Its objects are covered in its Articles of 
Association, dated 1 February 2016 and are for the public 
benefit, to further any charitable purposes relating 
to any purposes of University College London NHS 
Foundation Trust or that of the health service. 

TRUSTEES
For continuation purposes, a number of trustees who 
were previously trustees of the former NHS charity 
became trustees of the new charity, carrying over 
their terms of office. New trustees are appointed by 
the trustee board after an appointment process. They 
are selected to provide the charity with a relevant 
mix of professional skills in health, law, investment 
management, properties, and charitable grant-making. 
Altogether the charity has seven trustees composed 
of four independent trustees, one Foundation Trust 
trustee and two clinical trustees nominated by the 
Foundation Trust.

Newly appointed trustees are provided with packs 
which provide details on the duties and roles of a charity 
trustee and information about how the charity operates. 
In addition, new trustees meet the chairman and officers 
of the charity to discuss the organisation’s objectives 
and direction. 

Trustees are kept up to date regularly with changes 
relating to charity legislation. Conferences organised 
by legal, financial and investment professionals are 
available for trustees to attend. The charity is also a 
member of NHS Charities Together, which offers regular 
seminars for the trustees.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

ORGANISATION AND DECISION-MAKING 
PROCESS
The trustees are responsible for setting the strategic 
direction of the organisation and for establishing policy. 
They meet quarterly to discuss and review the group 
and charity’s state of affairs. The trustees delegate 
the day-to-day administration of the charity to the 
chief executive who is supported by accounting and 
administrative staff.

The charity invites applications for funding of projects 
through University College London Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. Grant bids must be approved by the 
UCLH Senior Director Team before consideration by 
the trustees, to ensure that grants made are in line with 
the strategic direction of the Foundation Trust. Grant 
bids which have been passed by the Foundation Trust 
are discussed at quarterly trustees’ meetings which the 
Foundation Trust’s chairman and chief executive are 
invited to attend in an advisory capacity. Decisions to 
approve all or part of a particular grant are made by the 
trustees following these discussions.

There are three sub-committees, investment, 
property and remuneration. The remuneration sub-
committee recommends a level of remuneration for key 
management personnel comprising the chief executive 
and the executive team. This sub-committee consists 
of at least three trustees with appropriate skills and 
experience. It meets at least once a year and reports 
to the full board of trustees. Further details of key 
management personnel and their remuneration are 
given in note 12. 

 

Chief Executive

Investment 
Committee

Property 
Committee

Renumeration 
Committee

TRUSTEES

Development 
Director

Charity
Secretary

Finance 
Director
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DISCRETIONARY FUNDS
A significant proportion of the charity’s activities are 
delivered by the staff of the Foundation Trust, who are 
a key link to patients and supporters. For discretionary 
funds, which are designated (see note 20), the charity 
relies on these staff to submit proposals for the most 
effective use of funds, bearing in mind their knowledge 
of local needs in their own wards and departments. 
These requests are reviewed and authorised by officers 
of the charity to ensure that expenditure is in accordance 
with the charity’s objects. 

Subsidiary companies owned by UCLH Charity and 
consolidated in these accounts 
The charity owns the entire share capital of the entities 
listed below, whose results are consolidated in these 
accounts:

QS Enterprises Ltd (company number 01850377)
This company provides clinical imaging services to 
patients of the NHS and private hospitals. It has a 
separate board of directors who report to the charity 
trustees on a regular basis. The company was able to 
make a Gift Aid contribution to the charity of £0.7m in 
2019-20. Further details of its financial results are given 
in note 4.

Middlesex UCLHC Ltd (company number 10821655) 
This company was formed on 15 June 2017 to carry out 
property activities. Its financial activities commenced 
on 1 April 2018. Further details of its financial results are 
given in note 5.

Middlesex Annexe LLP (registered number OC417941) 
This limited liability partnership was formed on 28 
June 2017 to carry out property activities, in particular 
the development of the former Middlesex Annexe 
in Fitzrovia, now renamed the Bedford Passage 
Development. UCLH Charity and Middlesex UCLHC Ltd 
are members of the partnership. Its financial activities 
commenced on 1 April 2018 when it acquired a long 
lease on the property. Further details of its financial 
results are given in note 6.

ASSOCIATED ORGANISATIONS
The charity exists to support the work of UCLH NHS 
Foundation Trust, with which it has a close working 
relationship. The Foundation Trust chairman and 
chief executive are invited to attend regular trustees’ 
meetings, but the trustees of UCLH Charity as a body are 
totally independent of the Foundation Trust. 

The charity also works with the Essex Wynter Charity 
(registered charity number 1084786), an independent 
charity which provides grants, scholarships and 
accommodation for the benefit of current and past 
employees of The Middlesex Hospital and UCLH who 
are in need of financial assistance. UCLH Charity has the 
responsibility of appointing the Essex Wynter Charity 
trustees and provides administrative support. Close 
links are maintained between the two bodies as staff of 
UCLH NHS Foundation Trust benefit from the activities 
of both entities.
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STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The trustees (who are also directors of University 
College London Hospitals Charity for the purposes 
of company law) are responsible for preparing the 
trustees’ report and financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company 
and the group and of the income and expenditure of the 
group for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the trustees  
are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

•  observe the methods and principles in Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102);

•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;

•  state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable company will continue in operation.

  The trustees are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
charitable company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charitable company and the group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Each of the trustees confirms that:

•  so far as the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the charitable company’s auditor is 
unaware; and

•  the trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to 
have taken as a trustee in order to make himself/herself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the charitable company’s auditor is aware of that 
information.

TRUSTEES’ REPORT INCORPORATING STRATEGIC REPORT

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in 
accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies 
Act 2006.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the charitable company’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Signed on behalf of the trustees:

James Thorne 
Chairman

30 September 2020 
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of University 
College London Hospitals Charity (the ‘charitable parent 
company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the 
year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the group 
statement of financial activities, the group and charitable 
parent company balance sheets and statements of 
cash flows, the principal accounting policies and notes 
to the financial statements. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 
‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable 
company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the charitable company and the charitable company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

 In our opinion, the financial statements:
•  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and 

of the charitable parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 
2020 and of the group’s income and expenditure for the 
year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

•  the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

•  the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements 
any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the group’s or the charitable 
parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Material uncertainty related to property valuations 
We draw attention to the accounting policy on page 
29 of the financial statements regarding the basis of 
preparation, and notes 14 and 15, which set out the 
material uncertainties related to the valuation of the 
group’s land and buildings and investment properties 
that arise as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. Our 
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other information 
The trustees are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we 
are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
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OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED 
BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit:

•  the information given in the trustees’ report including 
the strategic report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

•  the trustees’ report including the strategic report has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the group and the charitable parent company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have 
not identified material misstatements in the trustees’ 
report including the strategic report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
charitable parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not visited 
by us; or

•  the charitable parent company financial statements 
are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or

•  certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

•  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees 
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities 
statement, the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the trustees determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are 
responsible for assessing the group’s and the charitable 
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the group or 
the charitable parent company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report.

Shachi Blakemore  
Senior Statutory Auditor 
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, Statutory Auditor 
130 Wood Street, London EC2V 6DL

8 October 2020 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
INCLUDING AN INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
       2020 2019
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Income and endowments from:
Donations and legacies 3 9,509  265  –  9,774  8,149 
Charitable activities  1,230  –  –  1,230  1,169 
Other trading activities
 Turnover of QS Enterprises Ltd 4 5,706  –  –  5,706 5,228 
 Other fundraising activities  122  –  –  122  101 
Investments 7 4,983  94  –  5,077  4,855 
Other  29  –  –  29  10 
Total income  21,579  359  –  21,938  19,512 

Expenditure on:
Raising funds
 Costs of generating donations and legacies   879  6  –  885  751 
 Fundraising trading expenditure 
  Operating costs of QS Enterprises Ltd 4 4,974  –  –  4,974  4,700 
  Operating costs of Middlesex Annexe LLP 6 305  –  –  305  239 
  Other  244  –  –  244  47 
 Investment management costs
  Costs of managing quoted investments  145  7  24  176  183 
  Costs of managing, maintaining and 
  repairing investment properties  1,258  –  –  1,258  1,159 
  Bank interest and charges on loan relating
  to investment properties  226  –  –  226  311 
 Charitable activities 8

  Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  2,823  2  –  2,825  1,333 
  Provision of staff and professional services  3,062  77  –  3,139  3,422 
  Patient welfare and amenities  2,031  7  –  2,038  2,041 
  Medical research  1,337  1  –  1,338  2,072 
  Staff education and development  5,253  8  –  5,261  2,348 
Total expenditure  22,537  108  24  22,669  18,606 

Net (expenditure)/income before investment gains  (958) 251 (24) (731) 906 
Net (losses)/gains on investments 15 (3,337) (61) (215) (3,613) 1,890 
Net (expenditure)/income and net movements in funds  (4,295) 190  (239) (4,344) 2,796  

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward 20 151,788  2,863  7,084  161,735  158,939 
Total funds carried forward  147,493  3,053  6,845  157,391  161,735 

All of the group’s activities in the above two financial periods were derived from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 27 to 43 form part of these accounts. 

Detailed comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2019 is given in note 1 to the accounts. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CHARITY ONLY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
INCLUDING AN INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
       2020 2019
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Income and endowments from:       
Donations and legacies  10,184  265  –  10,449  8,610 
Charitable activities  1,230  –  –  1,230  1,169 
Other fundraising activities  122  –  –  122  101 
Investments  6,086  94  –  6,180  5,708 
Other  84  –  –  84  77 
Total income  17,706  359  –  18,065  15,665

Expenditure on:       
Raising funds       
 Costs of generating donations and legacies   879  6  –  885  751 
 Fundraising trading expenditure        
  Other  244  –  –  244  47 
 Investment management costs       
  Costs of managing quoted investments  145  7  24  176  183 
  Costs of managing, maintaining and        
  repairing investment properties  1,258  –  –  1,258  1,159 
  Bank interest and charges on loan relating       
  to investment properties  226  –  –  226  311 
 Charitable activities 8      
  Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  2,823  2  –  2,825  1,333 
  Provision of staff and professional services  3,062  77  –  3,139  3,422 
  Patient welfare and amenities  2,031  7  –  2,038  2,041 
  Medical research  1,337  1  –  1,338  2,072 
  Staff education and development  5,253  8  –  5,261  2,348 
Total expenditure  17,258  108  24  17,390  13,667 

Net income/(expenditure) before investment gains  448  251  (24) 675  1,998 
Net (losses)/gains on investments 15 (3,337) (61) (215) (3,613) 1,890 
Net (expenditure)/income and net movements in funds  (2,889) 190  (239) (2,938) 3,888 

Reconciliation of funds       
Total funds brought forward 20 152,818  2,863  7,084  162,765  158,877 
Total funds carried forward  149,929  3,053  6,845  159,827  162,765 

Detailed comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2019 is given in note 2 to the accounts.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2020
       2020 2019
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Fixed assets       
Tangible assets 14 40,374  –  –  40,374  33,890  
Listed investments and investment properties 15 96,754  1,012  6,845  104,611  109,066  
Programme–related loans 16 39  –  –  39  56
Total fixed assets  137,167  1,012  6,845  145,024  143,012

Current assets       
Debtors 17 8,032  –  –  8,032  7,459  
Cash at hand and in bank  35,108  2,041  –  37,149  43,732
Total current assets  43,140  2,041  –  45,181  51,191 

Current liabilities       
Creditors: amounts falling due       
within one year 18 31,675  –  –  31,675  21,013
Net current assets  11,465  2,041  –  13,506  30,178

Total assets less current liabilities  148,632  3,053  6,845  158,530  173,190

Creditors: amounts falling due after        
more than one year 19a 1,064  –  –  1,064  11,380  
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19b 75  –  –  75  75 
Total net assets  147,493  3,053  6,845  157,391  161,735 

The funds of the charity       
Capital funds       
Endowment funds 20 –  –  6,845  6,845  7,084 

Income funds       
 Restricted funds 20 –  3,053  –  3,053  2,863

 Unrestricted funds       
  General funds 20 78,739  –  –  78,739  82,817  
  Designated discretionary funds 20 54,177  –  –  54,177  53,481  
  Other designated funds 20 13,013  –  –  13,013  13,926  
  Revaluation reserve 20 1,564  –  –  1,564  1,564 
Total funds  147,493  3,053  6,845  157,391  161,735

The notes on pages 27 to 43 form part of these accounts.

Signed on behalf of the trustees

James Thorne

30 September 2020 

Company Registration Number 09980449
(England and Wales)
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CHARITY ONLY BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

       2020 2019
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total 
    Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
   Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Fixed assets       
Tangible assets 14 9,090  –  –  9,090  9,090 
Listed investments and investment properties 15 96,754  1,012  6,845  104,611  109,066 
Programme–related loans 16 39  –  –  39  56 
Total fixed assets  105,883  1,012  6,845  113,740  118,212 

Current assets       
Debtors 17 39,334  –  –  39,334  31,324 
Cash at hand and in bank  34,206  2,041  –  36,247  42,621 
Total current assets  73,540  2,041  –  75,581  73,945 

Current liabilities       
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 29,494  –  –  29,494  19,392 
Net current assets  44,046  2,041  –  46,087  54,553 

Total assets less current liabilities  149,929  3,053  6,845  159,827  172,765 

Creditors: amounts falling due        
after more than one year 19 –  –  –  –  10,000 
Total net assets  149,929  3,053  6,845  159,827  162,765 

The funds of the charity       
Capital funds       
Endowment funds 20 –  –  6,845  6,845  7,084 

Income funds       
 Restricted funds 20 –  3,053  –  3,053  2,863 
 Unrestricted funds      
  General funds  81,242  –  –  81,242  83,911 
  Designated discretionary funds 20 54,177  –  –  54,177  53,481 
  Other designated funds  12,946  –  –  12,946  13,862 
  Revaluation reserve 20 1,564  –  –  1,564  1,564 
Total funds  149,929  3,053  6,845  159,827  162,765 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
       2020 2019
      Note £’000  £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net cash used in operating activities    22 (5,799) (1,823)

Cash flows from investing activities:     
Dividends, interest and rents from investments     5,077  4,855 
Proceeds from the sale of investments     29,737  23,885 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets     (6,428) (5,879)
Purchase of investments     (28,894) (22,828)
Repayments of programme–related loans     17  14 
Net cash (used in)/provided by investment activities     (491) 47 

Cash flows from financing activities       
Cash inflows from new borrowing     –  10,000 
Capital element of finance lease repayments     (293) (235)
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities     (293) 9,765 

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period    (6,583) 7,989 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period    43,732  35,743 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period    37,149  43,732

Analysis of changes in net debt
           
        Total funds  Total funds 
        brought forward  carried forward 
        at 1 April 2019 Cash flows as at 31 March 2020
        £’000  £’000 £’000 

Cash and cash equivalents      43,732  (6,583) 37,149 
Finance leases      (1,667) 293  (1,374)
Borrowing      (10,000)  –  (10,000)
        32,065  (6,290) 25,775
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation 
The accounts have been prepared under the historic cost 
convention, with the exception of investments which are 
included at fair value. 

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with 
the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) 
issued on 16 July 2014 and the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Charities Act 2011 and UK 
Generally Accepted Practice as it applies from 1 January 
2015. 

The accounts are presented in sterling and rounded  
to the nearest thousand pounds.

The charity is a public benefit entity as defined by  
FRS 102.

The trustees consider that there are no material 
uncertainties about UCLH Charity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. Preparation of the accounts requires the 
trustees to make significant judgements and estimates. 
The items in the accounts where these judgements and 
estimates have been made include:

•  estimating investment management fees charged on 
managed funds; 

•  estimating the useful economic life of tangible fixed 
assets and intangible assets; and

• the basis for allocation of support costs.

In addition to the above, the full impact following the 
recent emergence of the global coronavirus pandemic 
is still unknown. It is therefore not currently possible to 
evaluate all the potential implications for the group and 
charity’s activities, beneficiaries and the wider economy. 
Estimates used in the financial statements, particularly 
with respect to property valuations (see notes 14 and 
15), and the value of listed investments are subject to a 
greater degrees of uncertainty and volatility.

The results of the wholly-owned subsidiary company, 
QS Enterprises Ltd, have been consolidated in these 
accounts on a line-by-line basis. Further details are 
given in note 4.

A wholly-owned subsidiary company, Middlesex 
UCLHC Ltd, was set up in 2017-18. Its financial activities 
commenced on 1 April 2018 and have been consolidated 
into these accounts on a line-by-line basis. Further 
details are given in note 5. 

A limited liability partnership, Middlesex Annexe 
LLP, was set up in 2017-18. The two partners in the 
partnership are UCLH Charity and Middlesex UCLHC Ltd. 
The LLP’s financial activities commenced on 1 April 2018 

and have been consolidated into these accounts on a 
line-by-line basis. Further details are given in note 6. 

On 1 April 2017 the entire undertaking of the 
unincorporated trust then known as University 
College London Hospitals Charity (the ‘Old Charity’) 
was transferred to a new charitable company called 
University College London Hospitals Charity, a company 
limited by guarantee and registered in England and 
Wales (the ‘New Charity’) company number 09980449. 

No separate statement of financial activities has been 
presented for the parent charity alone, as permitted by 
s.408 of the Companies Act 2006 and paragraph 24.36  
of SORP 2015. 

Funds structure 
Where there is a legal restriction on the purpose to 
which a fund may be put, the fund is classified either as a 
restricted fund or an endowment fund. Restricted funds 
are those where the donor has provided for the donation 
to be spent in furtherance of a specified charitable 
purpose. Endowment funds arise when the donor has 
expressly provided that the gift is to be invested and only 
the income of the fund may be spent. 

Those funds which are neither endowment nor restricted 
income funds, are unrestricted income funds which are 
sub analysed between designated (earmarked) funds 
where the trustees have set aside amounts to be used 
for specific purposes or which reflect the non-binding 
wishes of donors and unrestricted funds which are at the 
trustees’ discretion, including the general funds which 
represent the charity’s reserves. The major funds held in 
each of these categories are disclosed in note 20.

Income 
All income is recognised once the charity has 
entitlement to the resources, it is probable (more 
likely than not) that the resources will be received and 
the monetary value of income can be measured with 
sufficient reliability. Where there are terms or conditions 
attached to income, particularly grants, then these 
terms or conditions must be met before the income 
is recognised as the entitlement condition will not be 
satisfied until that point. Where terms or conditions have 
not been met or uncertainty exists as to whether they 
can be met then the relevant income is not recognised in 
the year but deferred and shown on the balance sheet as 
deferred income. 

Legacies are accounted for as income either upon 
receipt or where the receipt of the legacy is probable. 
Receipt is probable when: 

•  Confirmation has been received from the representatives 
of the estate(s) that probate has been granted 

•  The executors have established that there are sufficient 
assets in the estate to pay the legacy and 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

•  All conditions attached to the legacy have been fulfilled 
or are within the charity’s control. 

  The income received from the invested endowment funds 
is wholly restricted.

Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT  
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis 
and has been classified under headings that aggregate 
all costs related to each category of expense shown 
in the statement of financial activities. Expenditure is 
recognised when the following criteria are met: 

•  There is a present legal or constructive obligation 
resulting from a past event 

•  It is more likely than not that a transfer of benefits 
(usually a cash payment) will be required in settlement 

•  The amount of the obligation can be measured or 
estimated reliably. 

  Irrecoverable VAT is charged against the category of 
expenditure for which it was incurred.

  Grants payable are payments made to linked, related 
party or third party NHS bodies, in furtherance of the 
charity’s objectives. Grant payments are recognised as 
expenditure when the conditions for their payment have 
been met or where there is a constructive obligation to 
make a payment. A constructive obligation arises when: 

•  We have communicated our intention to award a grant 
to a recipient who then has a reasonable expectation 
that they will receive a grant;

•  We have made a public announcement about a 
commitment which is specific enough for the recipient 
to have a reasonable expectation that they will receive a 
grant; and

•  There is an established pattern of practice which 
indicates to the recipient that we will honour our 
commitment. 

  The trustees have control over the amount and timing of 
grant payments and consequently where approval has 
been given by the trustees and any of the above criteria 
have been met then a liability is recognised. Grants are 
not usually awarded with conditions attached. However, 
when they are, then those conditions have to be met 
before the liability is recognised.

Allocation of support costs 
Support costs are those costs which do not relate 
directly to a single activity. These include staff costs, 
costs of administration, legal fees and audit fees. 
Support costs have been apportioned between costs of 
raising funds and charitable activities on an appropriate 
basis. The analysis of support costs and the bases of 
apportionment applied are shown in note 9.

Costs of raising funds 
The costs of raising funds are those costs attributable to 
generating income for the charity, other than those costs 
incurred in undertaking charitable activities or the costs 
incurred in undertaking trading activities in furtherance 
of the charity’s objects. The costs of raising funds 
represent fundraising costs together with the operating 
costs of the charity’s subsidiary companies, investment 
management fees and property management costs. 

Charitable activities  
Costs of charitable activities comprise all costs 
incurred in the pursuit of the charitable objects of the 
charity. These costs, where not wholly attributable, 
are apportioned between the categories of charitable 
expenditure in addition to the direct costs. The total 
costs of each category of charitable expenditure include 
an apportionment of support costs as shown in note 8.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
Neither the charity nor its subsidiary companies have 
a strict monetary limit below which fixed assets are 
not capitalised. Instead, each asset or group of assets 
is considered separately and capitalised if appropriate, 
unless the value is clearly negligible.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets 
at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated 
residual value of each asset evenly over its expected 
useful life, as follows:

   Over the term  
Leasehold improvements of the lease

Furniture, medical and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Computer equipment 2 to 3 years

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed 
for impairment in periods if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not 
be recoverable.

Land and buildings are subject to revaluation and 
are not depreciated. Formal valuations for land and 
buildings are usually carried out by a professional valuer 
at five yearly intervals and a formal valuation was last 
carried out by Dron & Wright at 31 March 2018. Between 
formal valuations, desktop valuations are provided by a 
professional valuer, which are used to value the freehold 
land and buildings in the accounts at the year end date. 
Valuation gains and losses are credited (or debited) to 
other gains or losses within the statement of financial 
activities with the balance sheet reflecting the revalued 
amounts. Any revaluation losses in excess of previously 
recognised revaluation gains are shown within the 
appropriate heading of expenditure.

UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019–2028



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments 
Listed investments are a form of basic financial 
instrument and are included in the accounts at their 
market value as at the balance sheet date. Investment 
portfolios are held with Sarasin & Partners LLP, 
Cazenove Capital Management and CCLA. For Sarasin & 
Partners LLP and Cazenove Capital Management, quoted 
stocks and shares are included in the balance sheet 
at bid price at close of business on the valuation date. 
Realised and unrealised gains (or losses) are credited 
(or debited) to the statement of financial activities in the 
year in which they arise. 

The charity does not directly acquire put options, 
derivatives or other complex financial instruments.

Formal valuations for land and buildings are usually 
carried out by a professional valuer at five yearly 
intervals and a formal valuation was last carried 
out by Dron & Wright at 31 March 2018. Between 
formal valuations, desktop valuations are provided 
by a professional valuer, which are used to value the 
investment properties in the accounts at the year end 
date. Valuation gains and losses are credited (or debited) 
to the statement of financial activities with the balance 
sheet reflecting the revalued amounts. No depreciation 
is charged on investment properties. 

As a consequence of the coronavirus pandemic, less 
weight can be attached to previous market evidence 
to inform opinions of value and The Royal Institute 
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) has announced that 
valuations using the RICS Red Book guidance are now 
reported on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ 
as per VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Red Book Global. 
Consequently, less certainty can be attached to these 
valuations than would normally be the case. This applies 
to all property valuations in the UK.

Investments in subsidiary companies are valued at 
cost with provision being made for any permanent 
diminution in value. 

Programme-related loans 
Programme-related loans comprise loans made by the 
charity to related organisations in furtherance of UCLH 
Charity’s objectives. These are included in the balance 
sheet at the recoverable amount. 

Fund structure 
General funds represent those monies which are freely 
available for application towards achieving any charitable 
purpose that falls within the charity’s charitable objects. 
The designated funds are monies or assets set aside out 
of general funds and designated for specific purposes by 
the trustees. Restricted funds are those for which a legal 
restriction exists over their use. Endowment funds consist 
of capital held in perpetuity where the related income 
may be used for unrestricted or restricted purposes as 
specified by the donor.

Cash at bank and in hand 
Cash at bank and in hand represents such accounts  
and instruments that are available on demand or  
have a maturity of less than three months from the  
date of acquisition. 

Pension costs 
Employees of the Old Charity at 31 March 2017 
were entitled to join the NHS Pensions Scheme, an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable participating bodies to identify 
their share of the underlying Scheme assets and 
liabilities. Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if 
it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the 
charity of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal 
to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the 
accounting period. 

The Scheme is a final salary scheme. Since 1 April 
2015 there have been two separate pension schemes 
covering NHS workers. The 1995/2008 Scheme closed 
with effect from 1 April 2015 except for some members 
entitled to continue in this Scheme through ‘Protection’ 
arrangements. On 1 April 2015 a new NHS Pension 
Scheme was introduced. This new Scheme covers all 
former members of the 1995/2008 Scheme not eligible to 
continue in that Scheme as well as new NHS employees 
on or after 1 April 2015. 

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every 
four years, and an IAS 19 accounting valuation every 
year. The valuation of scheme liability in accordance 
with IAS 19 is carried out annually by the Scheme 
Actuary. The latest assessment of the liabilities of the 
Scheme is contained in the Scheme Actuary report, 
which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme 
(England and Wales) Resource Account, published 
annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS 
Pensions website.

A defined contribution scheme has been set up for 
employees who join the New Charity. Contributions are 
charged on a payable basis. 

QS Enterprises Ltd contributes to the personal pension 
schemes of all employees, other than directors. 
Contributions are charged to the statement of financial 
activities as they become payable in accordance with the 
contribution rates agreed with the relevant employees. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Leased assets 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to 
income on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where 
substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of the 
asset have passed to the company, are capitalised in the 
balance sheet and are depreciated over their useful lives. 
The capital elements of future obligations under finance 
leases are included as liabilities in the balance sheet. 

The interest elements of the rental obligations are 
charged to the statement of financial activities over the 
period of the leases and represent a constant proportion 
of the balance of capital repayments outstanding. 

Debtors 
Debtors are recognised at their settlement amount, less 
any provision for non-recoverability. Prepayments are 
valued at the amount prepaid. They have been discounted 
to the present value of the future cash receipt where such 
discounting is material.

Creditors and provisions 
Creditors and provisions are recognised when there is 
an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic 
benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount 
of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Creditors 
and provisions are recognised at the amount the charity 
anticipates it will pay to settle the debt. They have 
been discounted to the present value of the future cash 
payment where such discounting is material.

Financial instruments 
The charity only holds basic financial instruments as 
defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and financial 
liabilities of the charity and their measurement basis are 
as follows:

Financial assets – other debtors are basic financial 
instruments and are debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost. 

Listed investments are a basic financial instrument 
as detailed above. Prepayments are not financial 
instruments. 

Cash at bank – classified as a basic financial instrument 
and is measured at face value.

Financial liabilities – accruals and other creditors are 
financial instruments, and are measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

01 Comparative consolidated statement of financial activities split between funds
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
          
         2019
      Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total 
       Funds  Funds  Funds   Funds 
     Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000

 Income and endowments from:       
 Donations and legacies  3 7,884  265  –  8,149
 Charitable activities   1,169  –  –  1,169
 Other trading activities
 Turnover of QS Enterprises Ltd  4 5,228  – –  5,228
 Other fundraising activities   101  –  –  101 
 Investments  7 4,780  75  –  4,855 
 Other   10  –  –  10 
 Total income   19,172  340  –  19,512 

 Expenditure on:       
 Raising funds       
  Costs of generating donations and legacies    746  5  –  751 
  Fundraising trading expenditure        
   Operating costs of QS Enterprises Ltd  4 4,700  –  –  4,700 
   Operating costs of Middlesex Annexe LLP   239  –  –  239 
   Other   47  –  –  47 
  Investment management costs      
   Costs of managing quoted investments   154  7  22  183 
   Costs of managing, maintaining and       
   repairing investment properties   1,159  –  –  1,159 
   Bank interest and charges on loan relating       
   to investment properties   311  –  –  311  
 Charitable activities   8    
  Medical equipment and infrastructure costs   1,332  1  –  1,333 
  Provision of staff and professional services   3,406  16  –  3,422 
  Patient welfare and amenities   2,020  21  –  2,041 
  Medical research   2,071  1  –  2,072 
  Staff education and development   2,342  6  –  2,348 
 Total expenditure   18,527  57  22  18,606 

 Net income/(expenditure) before investment gains   645  283  (22) 906 
 Net gains on investments  15 1,434  89  367  1,890 
 Net income/(expenditure) and net movement in funds   2,079  372  345  2,796 

 Reconciliation of funds       
 Total funds brought forward  20 149,709  2,491  6,739  158,939 

 Total funds carried forward  20 151,788  2,863  7,084  161,735
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02 Comparative charity only statement of financial activities split between funds
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
          
         2019
      Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total 
       Funds  Funds  Funds   Funds 
     Note  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000

 Income and endowments from:       
 Donations and legacies  3 8,344  265  –  8,609
 Charitable activities   1,169  –  –  1,169 
 Other fundraising activities   101  –  –  101 
 Investments  7 5,634  75  –  5,709 
 Other   77  –  –  77 
 Total income   15,325  340  –  15,665 

 Expenditure on:       
 Raising funds       
  Costs of generating donations and legacies    746  5  –  751 
   Fundraising trading expenditure        
   Other   47  –  –  47 
  Investment management costs       
   Costs of managing quoted investments   154  7  22  183 
   Costs of managing, maintaining and        
   repairing investment properties   1,159  –  –  1,159 
   Bank interest and charges on loan relating       
   to investment properties   311  –  –  311 
 Charitable activities   8    
  Medical equipment and infrastructure costs   1,332  1  –  1,333 
  Provision of staff and professional services   3,406  16  –  3,422 
  Patient welfare and amenities   2,020  21  –  2,041 
  Medical research   2,071  1  –  2,072 
  Staff education and development   2,342  6  –  2,348 
 Total expenditure   13,588  57  22  13,667 

 Net income/(expenditure) before investment gains   1,737  283  (22) 1,998 
 Net (losses)/gains on investments  15 1,434  89  367  1,890 
 Net income/(expenditure) and net movement in funds   3,171  372  345  3,888 

 Reconciliation of funds       
 Total funds brought forward  20 149,647  2,491  6,739  158,877 
 Total funds carried forward   152,818  2,863  7,084  162,765
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03 Donations and legacies

       2020    2019  

     Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total
     Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
      £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000 

  Donations 5,029 265 – 5,294 4,230 265 – 4,495
  Legacies 968 – – 968 1,719 – – 1,719
  Grants 3,512 – – 3,512 1,935 – – 1,935
     9,509 265 – 9,774 7,884 265 – 8,149

04  QS Enterprises Ltd
The charity’s wholly owned subsidiary, QS Enterprises Ltd, is incorporated in England and Wales 
(company number 01850377). Its principal activity is the provision of clinical imaging services to patients 
of NHS and private hospitals. QS Enterprises Ltd donates its taxable profit, if any, to UCLH Charity.  
A summary of its results is shown below. Separately audited accounts for the company are filed with  
the Registrar of Companies. The share capital of QS Enterprises Ltd has a nominal value of £2.

     2020 2019
     Total   Total 
      £’000   £’000 

Turnover    5,706  5,228 
Operating expenses    (4,898) (4,575)
Audit fee    (16) (15)
Bank interest receivable     1  1 
Interest payable    (115) (176)
Profit for the year before Gift Aid    678  463 
Gift Aid payable    (675)  (461) 
Retained profit for the year    3  2
Reserves brought forward    64  62 
Reserves carried forward    67  64 

05 Middlesex UCLHC Ltd
The charity’s wholly owned subsidiary, Middlesex UCLHC Ltd, is incorporated in England and Wales 
(company number 10821655). The company operates as a holding company in order to facilitate the 
development of the site of the former Middlesex Hospital Annexe. It was incorporated on 15 June 2017 and 
began trading on 1 April 2018. It donates its taxable profit, if any, to UCLH Charity. A summary of its results 
is shown below. Separately audited accounts for the company are filed with the Registrar of Companies. 
The share capital of Middlesex UCLHC Ltd has a nominal value of £1.

         2020 2019
          Total  Total 
         £’000  £’000

Turnover      143  120 
Operating expenses      (148)  (120)
Audit fee      (3)  (2)
Loss for the year      (8)  (2)
Interest receivable      679 522
Interest payable      (671)  (520)

Profit for the year      –  –
Reserves brought forward      –  –
Reserves carried forward      –  –
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06 Middlesex Annexe LLP 
This limited liability partnership has registered number OC417941 and consists of two partners, UCLH 
Charity and Middlesex UCLHC Ltd. The LLP was formed on 28 June 2017 and began trading on 1 April 
2018. Its principal activity is property development and its aim is to maximise profits for its members. 
A summary of its results is shown below. Separately audited accounts for the LLP are filed with the 
Registrar of Companies.

          2020 2019
           Total  Total 
           £’000  £’000

Turnover      –  – 
Operating expenses      (301)  (237)
Audit fee      (4)  (2)
Interest payable      (1,104)  (855)

Loss for the year      (1,409)  (1,094)
Reserves brought forward      –  –

  Losses carried forward      (1,409)  (1,094)

07 Investment income
    2020    2019

     Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment   Total  Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total 
     Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds Funds  Funds  Funds 
      £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000   £’000  £’000

Investment properties  3,593  –  –  3,593  3,566  –  –  3,566  
Listed investments  1,091  59  –  1,150  952  41  –  993  
Common deposit or  –  35  –  35  –  34  –  34  
common investment funds          
Investment cash  68  –  –  68  65  –  –  65  
Other investments  231  –  –  231  197  –  –  197
    4,983  94  –  5,077  4,780  75  –  4,855 

08 Charitable activities
       2020 2019

     Grant     Grant
     Activities  funded  Support   Activities funded Support 
    undertaken  activities  costs  Total  undertaken  activities  costs  Total
    directly  (note 10)  (note 9)  Funds  directly  (note 10)  (note 9)  Funds
     £’000   £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000   £’000   £’000

Improvements to patient services      
 Medical equipment and   
 infrastructure costs 892  1,827  106  2,825  584  690  59  1,333
 Provision of staff and   
 professional services 2,802  219  118  3,139  2,747  523  152  3,422
 Patient welfare and amenities 1,197  765  76  2,038  1,003  947  91  2,041 

Medical research 888  400  50  1,338  1,587  393  92  2,072 
Staff education and development 3,895  1,169  197  5,261  3,943  1,336  105  5,384 
Grant write back (see note 10) –  –  –  –  –  (3,036) –  (3,036)

    9,674  4,380  547  14,601  9,864  853  499  11,216

The charity has a number of designated discretionary funds where decisions over spending are 
delegated to ward or consultant level, under the oversight of officers of the charity. Direct expenditure 
from these funds delivered a significant proportion of the activities of the charity. More details are given 
in the Report of the Trustees. 
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09 Support costs – apportionment
      2020

      Charitable activities

      Staff &  Patient   Staff   
    Raising    professional  welfare &  Medical  education &  Totals

Expenditure type Basis of apportionment   funds Equipment services amenities research development costs  
    £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000   £’000 

Charity staff salaries Time   247  68  77  49  32  127  600 
Governance Proportional to salaries   44  4  4  3  2 7  64 
Premises costs Proportional to salaries   82  23  25  16  11  42  199 
Other office and Proportional to salaries   56  11  12  8  5  21  113 
sundry costs  

    429  106  118  76  50  197  976 

      2019

      Charitable activities

      Staff &  Patient   Staff   
    Raising    professional  welfare &  Medical  education &  Totals

Expenditure type Basis of apportionment   funds Equipment services amenities research development costs  
    £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000   £’000 

Charity staff salaries Time   263  39  101  60  61  70  594 
Governance Proportional to salaries   35  2  5  3  3  4  52 
Premises costs Proportional to salaries   78  12  30  18  18  20  176 
Other office and Proportional to salaries   58  6  16  10  10  11  111 
sundry costs  

   434  59  152  91  92  105  933

10 Analysis of grants
    2020  2019 

   Number of   Aggregate   Number of  Aggregate 
   grants  amount paid grants  amount paid 
    £’000   £’000 

Medical equipment and infrastructure costs  6  1,827  7  690 
Provision of staff and professional services  3  219  5  523 
Patient welfare and amenities  7  765  5  947 
Medical research  1  400   2  393 
Staff education and development  6  1,169  7  1,336
Grant write–back  –   –   –  (3,036) 

   23  4,380  26  853

All grants were to UCLH NHS Foundation Trust. In the prior year, the trustees wrote back a grant 
creditor of £3.04m which was given to the Foundation Trust in 2008–09 for its Education Centre. It was 
agreed that the unused balance of this grant be set aside and it will form part of the grant to be given to 
the Foundation Trust for its new cancer and surgery centre.     
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11 Net movement in funds
  This is stated after charging: 2020    2019

      Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total Unrestricted  Restricted Endowment Total  
      Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds Funds Funds Funds 
      £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Staff costs (note 12) 2,531  –  –  2,531  2,322  –  –  2,322 
Auditors’ remuneration         
   Statutory audit services, charity only         
    Current year 21  –  –  21  15  –  –  15

    Prior year 3  –  –  3  –  –  –  –
Statutory audit services, subsidiary 
   companies 23  –  –  23  20  –  –  20 

   Other services 7  –  –  7  19  –  –  19 
Depreciation 611  –  –  611  598  –  –  598
Operating lease charges 246  –  –  246  266  –  –  266

12 Staff costs       2020 2019
        Total Total 
         Funds  Funds 
        £’000  £’000 

Wages and salaries      2,145  1,978 
Employer’s national insurance costs      240  213 
Pension costs      146 131 

           2,531  2,322 
 
    Headcount Full time equivalent

    2020 2019 2020 2019

The average number of employees, analysed by function, was: 
Charity employees  11 10  9  9 
Staff of trading subsidiaries  44  39  42 39 

    55   49  51  48 

The number of senior employees whose emoluments for the year amounted to £60,000 or more were:
    2020   2019

   Charity  Subsidiaries  Total  Charity  Subsidiaries  Total

£60,001 – £70,000 –  1   1 – 2 2 
£70,001 – £80,000 2  2  4  1 – 1 
£80,001 – £90,000 –  –  –   1 – 1 
£110,001 – £120,000 1  –  1  1 – 1 
£130,001 – £140,000 –  1  1  – 1 1 
£180,001 – £190,000 1   –  1 1 – 1

   4  4   8  4 3 7 

The key management personnel of the group and the charity comprise the Chief Executive, the 
Development Director, the Charity Secretary and the Finance Director. The total remuneration paid to 
the key management personnel including employer’s national insurance and pension contributions was 
£535K (2019: £530K).  

Benefits were accruing to one of the above members of staff under the defined benefit pension  
scheme outlined under accounting policies (2019: one member of staff). Contributions of £12K (2019: 
£12K) were made to purchase defined contribution pension benefits on behalf of one of the above 
members of staff. 

None of the trustees received remuneration during this or the preceding year. Expenses totalling £1,095 
were reimbursed to two trustees (2019: £1,033 to two trustees).

 The charity has purchased insurance to protect trustees from claims arising from negligent acts, errors 
or omissions occurring whilst on charity business. The insurance policy provides cover up to £3M (2019: 
£3M) and the cost for the year ended 31 March 2020 was £3K (2019: £3K).     
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13 Taxation
UCLH Charity is a registered charity and therefore is not liable to income tax or corporation tax on 
income derived from its charitable activities, as it falls within the various exemptions available to 
registered charities. Its wholly owned subsidiaries donate their taxable profits, if any, to the charity. 

14 Tangible assets
     Group

     Furniture,
   Assets   medical &  
  Land &  under  Leasehold  office  Computer   
   buildings  construction   improvements  equipment  equipment  Total 
  £’000  £’000  £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Cost or valuation      
 Brought forward at 1 April 2019 9,090 21,115  3,288  2,551  655  36,699 

 Additions –  6,814  162  11  108  7,095 
 Balance at 31 March 2020 9,090 27,929  3,450  2,562  763  43,794 

Accumulated depreciation     
 Brought forward at 1 April 2019 – –  1,397  881  531  2,809 

 Charge for the year  –   –  189  355  67  611 
 Balance at 31 March 2020 – –  1,586  1,236  598  3,420 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 9,090  27,929  1,864  1,326  165  40,374 

Net book value at 31 March 2019 9,090 21,115  1,891  1,670  124  33,890

Land and buildings are held by the charity only. They were revalued as at 31 March 2020 by an 
independent valuer using a term and reversion technique which values the existing income stream at  
an initial yield with a reversion to estimated rental value once the current income stream has expired.  

As a consequence of the coronavirus pandemic, less weight can be attached to previous market 
evidence to inform opinions of value and The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) has 
announced that valuations using the RICS Red Book guidance are now reported on the basis of  
‘material valuation uncertainty’ as per VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Red Book Global. Consequently, 
less certainty can be attached to these valuations than would normally be the case. This applies to all 
property valuations in the UK. 

Assets under construction consist of the Bedford Passage Development, which was transferred from 
the charity to Middlesex Annexe LLP on 1 April 2018. At 31 March 2020 the figure of £27.9M represented 
the purchase cost of the property and the associated planning and professional fees and building costs  
(2019: £21.1M).       
      . 
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15 Listed investments and investment properties – group and charity
     2020   2019

    Listed   Investment   Listed   Investment  
    investments  property  Total investments  property  Total
    £’000  £’000   £’000  £’000 £’000  £’000

Market value at 1 April 41,456  67,610  109,066  40,323  67,910  108,233 
Add: acquisitions at cost 28,894  –  28,894  23,001  (173) 22,828 
Less: disposals at carrying value (27,888) –  (27,888) (23,376) –  (23,376)
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on revaluation (2,961) (2,500) (5,461) 1,508  (127) 1,381 
Market value at 31 March 39,501  65,110  104,611  41,456  67,610  109,066 

Historic cost at 31 March 42,479  42,928  85,407  38,091  42,928  81,019

Disposal proceeds during the year amounted to £29.7M (2019: £23.9M). 
Analysis of listed investments and investment properties – group and charity:

     2020   2019

    Held in Held  Held in Held 
   the UK overseas Total the UK overseas Total 
    £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Investment properties – charity 65,110  –  65,110  67,610  –  67,610 
Investments listed in the stock exchange  
or valued by reference to such investments  10,748  24,668  35,416  26,067  11,832  37,899 
Investments in common deposit or  
common investment funds 1,012  –  1,012  1,045  –  1,045 
Cash held as part of investment portfolio 3,073  –  3,073  2,512  –  2,512 
Total investments – group and charity 79,943  24,668  104,611  97,234  11,832  109,066

The trustees consider the following individual investment holdings at 31 March 2020 to be material:
     Listed Investment 
      investments  properties 
     £’000  £’000 

170 Tottenham Court Road, London     – 54,660
68 and 70 Huntley Street, London    – 3,850
69–75 Chenies Mews, London     – 6,600
Invesco Physical Gold    2,404  –
Sarasin Responsible Corporate Bond    1,554  –
UK Treasury Gilt 2.75% maturity date September 2024    1,264  –

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 March 2020 by an independent valuer using a term 
and reversion technique which values the existing income stream at an initial yield with a reversion 
to estimated rental value once the current income stream has expired. 

As a consequence of the coronavirus pandemic, less weight can be attached to previous market 
evidence to inform opinions of value and The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) has 
announced that valuations using the RICS Red Book guidance are now reported on the basis 
of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as per VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Red Book Global. 
Consequently, less certainty can be attached to these valuations than would normally be the case. 
This applies to all property valuations in the UK.

UCLH CHARITY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019–2038



16 Programme–related loans – group and charity 
      Total 
      £’000 

At 1 April 2019      56 
Repayments during year      (17)
At 31 March 2020      39

The charity has made an interest–free loan to the 52 Club, the UCLH staff sports and social club, to enable 
it to develop fitness studios and upgrade its fixtures and fittings. This loan is repayable by September 2022.

17 Debtors
   Group    Charity

   2020 2019 2020 2019
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Amounts falling due within one year:      
Trade debtors  2,296  1,804  1,757  1,314 
Prepayments  475  371  190  137 
Accrued income  1,096  2,469  1,269  2,639 
Due from subsidiary undertakings   –  –  715  576 
Other debtors  4,165  2,815  3,453  2,553 
Total debtors falling due within one year  8,032  7,459  7,384  7,219 

Amounts falling due after more than one year:      
Due from subsidiary undertakings   –  –  31,950  24,105 
Total debtors falling due after more than one year  –  –  31,950  24,105 
Total debtors  8,032  7,459  39,334  31,324

18 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
   Group    Charity

   2020 2019 2020 2019
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Trade creditors  438  1,205  49  755 
Other creditors  1,451  1,207  553  4208 
Grant creditors  17,024  16,568  17,024  16,568 
Bank loan  10,000   –  10,000  – 
Accruals  2,245  1,394  1,661  1,297 
Deferred income  207  352  207  352 
Hire purchase contracts  310  287  –  – 

   31,675  21,013  29,494  19,392

The bank loan relates to an agreed 3 year facility with Handelsbanken repayable on 31 March 2021.  
The loan has an interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.25% and is secured on the charity’s freehold property. 

Minimum lease payments on hire purchase contracts fall due between one and five years. 

19a Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
   Group    Charity

   2020 2019 2020 2019
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Hire purchase contracts  1,064 1,380 – – 
Bank loan  – 10,000 – 10,000 

   1,064 11,380 – 10,000 
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19b Provisions for liabilities and charges – group only        
           £’000

 At 1 April 2019 and at 31 March 2020       75

All provisions for liabilities and charges relate to dilapidation provisions in the charity’s subsidiary  
company, QS Enterprises Ltd.

20 Analysis of net movement in funds       
      Total funds     Transfers  Gains Total funds 
      brought  Total  Total  between  and   carried 
      forward at  income  expenditure funds  losses  forward at
      1 April 2019     31 March 2020 
      £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Endowment funds:      
  Otto Beit Fund 172  –  –  –  (5) 167 
  Dresden Assistance Fund 415  –  –  –  (13) 402
  UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 234  –  –  –  (7) 227 
  Gordon Taylor Fund 244  –  –  –  (7) 237 
  David E Hughes Fund 1,875  –  (8) –  (65) 1,802 
  University College Hospital Fund 4,144  –  (16) –  (118) 4,010 
  Total endowment funds (group and charity) 7,084  –  (24) –  (215) 6,845 

Restricted funds:       
  Otto Beit Fund 108  10  (2) –  (5) 111 
  Dresden Assistance Fund 260  24  (4) –  (10) 270
  UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 1,021  45  (19) –  (38) 1,009 
  Gordon Taylor Fund 230  15  (8) –  (8) 229 
  CancerCare at UCLH Fund 81  –  –  –  –  81 
  Institute of Sport Fund 898  –  –  –  –  898 
  Exilarch’s Foundation 265  265  (75) –  –  455 
  Total restricted funds (group and charity) 2,863  359  (108) –  (61) 3,053 

Unrestricted funds:       
  General funds 83,911  5,957  (5,500) (118) (3,008) 81,242 
  Designated discretionary funds 53,481  9,017  (8,345) 29  (5) 54,177 
  Other designated funds 13,862  1,628  (2,309) 89  (324) 12,946 
  Revaluation reserve 1,564  –  –  –  –  1,564 
  Total unrestricted funds, charity 152,818  16,602  (16,154) –  (3,337) 149,929 
  Trading companies (1,030) 4,977  (6,383) –  –  (2,436) 
  Total unrestricted funds, group 151,788  21,579  (22,537) –  (3,337) 147,493

 Total funds 161,735  21,938  (22,669) –  (3,613) 157,391
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20 Analysis of net movement in funds       
      Total funds     Transfers  Gains Total funds 
      brought  Total  Total  between  and   carried 
      forward at  income  expenditure funds  losses  forward at
      1 April 2018     31 March 2019 
      £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Endowment funds:      
  Otto Beit Fund 160  –  –  –  12  172 
  Dresden Assistance Fund 385  –  –  –  30  415
  UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 217  –  –  –  17  234 
  Gordon Taylor Fund 228  –  –  –  16  244 
  David E Hughes Fund 1,775  –  (8) –  108  1,875 
  University College Hospital Fund 3,974  –  (14) –  184  4,144 
  Total endowment funds (group and charity) 6,739  –  (22) –  367  7,084 

Restricted funds:       
  Otto Beit Fund 95  8  (1) –  6  108 
  Dresden Assistance Fund 230  18  (3) –  15  260
  UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund 959  37  (32) –  57  1,021 
  Gordon Taylor Fund 214  12  (7) –  11  230 
  CancerCare at UCLH Fund 95  –  (14)  –  –  81 
  Institute of Sport Fund 898  –  – –  –  898 
  Exilarch’s Foundation –  265  – –  –  265 
  Total restricted funds (group and charity) 2,491  340  (57) –  89  2,863 

Unrestricted funds:       
  General funds 82,886  5,822  (2,756) (3,071) 1,030  83,911 
  Designated discretionary funds 52,183  7,079  (8,832) 3,043  8  53,481 
  Other designated funds 13,014  1,569  (1,145) 28  396  13,862 
  Revaluation reserve 1,564  –  –  –  –  1,564 
  Total unrestricted funds, charity 149,647  14,470  (12,733)  –  1,434  152,818 
  Trading companies 62  4,702  (5,794)  –  –  (1,030) 
  Total unrestricted funds, group 149,709  19,172  (18,527) –  1,434  151,788 

Total funds 158,939  19,512  (18,606) –  1,890  161,735

 Fund descriptions

Otto Beit Fund – to be applied for the benefit of patients suffering from arthritis and rheumatoid conditions.

Dresden Assistance Fund – to be applied for the benefit of inpatients of University College Hospital who are 
in need.

UCLH Spicer Samaritan Fund – for the relief of patients who have been treated at any hospital of UCLH 
NHS Foundation Trust.

Gordon Taylor Fund – to be applied for the benefit of incapacitated nurses of the former Middlesex Hospital 
or of University College Hospital.

David E Hughes Fund – to be applied for the general purposes of University College Hospital.

University College Hospital Fund – to be applied for the general purposes of UCH.

CancerCare at UCLH Fund – for any charitable purposes of UCLH NHS Foundation Trust relating to cancer 
research and the treatment, benefit and comfort of cancer patients.

Institute of Sport Fund – for the purpose of creating an Institute of Sport Exercise and Health, a facility for 
the treatment of athletes and people engaged in sports. 

Exilarch’s Foundation Fund – to be applied for the Sir Naim Dangoor Centre for Cellular Immunotherapy.
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20 Analysis of net movement in funds (continued)       

  Designated discretionary funds are funds operated on behalf of specific wards or consultants, where decisions 
over spending are delegated to ward or consultant level, under the oversight of officers of the charity. 

Other designated funds are funds which the trustees of the charity have chosen to designate for specific 
purposes. They include a fund held on behalf of the Royal London Hospital for Integrated Medicine, funds 
held for the National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery as a result of the annual profit donated by 
QS Enterprises Ltd, various prize funds and funds created as a result of legacies given to the charity for 
specific purposes. 

The revaluation reserve relates to gains and losses on the revaluation of the charity’s tangible fixed assets.

 

21 Reconciliation of accumulated unrealised gains
          
         2020 2019
         £’000  £’000 

Unrealised gains/(losses) included as part of net assets:     
On listed investments     (2,978) 3,365 
On investment properties     22,182 24,682 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March     19,204 28,047 

Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains:       
Unrealised gains at 1 April      28,047 28,456 
Less: in respect to disposals in the year     (3,382) (1,790)
(Less)/add: unrealised (losses)/gains in year     (5,461) 1,381 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March      19,204 28,047

22 Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating from operating activities
         2020 2019
         £’000  £’000 

Net (expenditure)/income     (4,344) 2,796  
Depreciation charges (note 14)     611  598 
Losses/(gains) on investments     3,613  (1,890)
Dividends, interest and rents from investments     (5,077) (4,855)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors     (573) 2,250 
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and provisions     (29)  (722)
Cash (outflow) from operating activities     (5,799) (1,823)

23 Commitments under non–cancellable operating leases
      Land and buildings   Other   

      2020 2019 2020 2019
      £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

As at 31 March the group had total commitments under       
Non–cancellable operating leases which fall due:       
 within one year   395  344  181  51 

  within two to five years inclusive   1,574  1,046  557  – 
  over five years   1,709  1,229  –  – 
      3,678  2,619  738  51 

As at 31 March the charity had total commitments under       
Non–cancellable operating leases which fall due:       
 within one year   152  152  –  – 

  within two to five years inclusive   360  512  –  – 
  over five years   –  – –  – 
      512  664  –  –
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24 Other contractual commitments
As at 31 March 2020, the group had contractual commitments of £7.7m for refurbishment costs in relation 
to tangible fixed assets contracted for but not accrued in the accounts at the year end (2019: £1.5m). 

25 Material legacies 
Legacies are accounted for as income either upon receipt or where the receipt of the legacy is probable and 
the amount can be determined with reasonable accuracy. As at 31 March 2020 the charity had been notified 
of one legacy (2019: one legacy) which was not included in income since the amount due to be received was 
not known.

26 Related party transactions
Dr Rima Makarem was a trustee of UCLH Charity during the year and is also a council member of  
St George’s University. During the year there were transactions totalling £83k (2019: £3,664) with  
St George’s University. Dr Makarem is also a non-executive director of Hillingdon Hospital and during 
the year there were transactions totalling £295 (2019: £275) with Hillingdon Hospital. Mr Nigel Keen is a 
trustee of UCLH Charity and during the year there were transactions totalling £42k (2019: nil) with his son 
Thomas Keen. None of the other trustees or members of the key management staff or parties related to 
them undertook any material transactions with UCLH Charity.

The Essex Wynter Charity is a related party for UCLH Charity as the trustees of UCLH Charity appoint 
the trustees of the Essex Wynter Charity. The Essex Wynter Charity was charged a sum of £8K for the 
provision of accounting and administration services (2019: £8K). Its outstanding balance at the year end 
was £17K (2019: £16K).

The accounts do not include disclosure of transactions between the charity and its wholly owned trading 
subsidiaries due to the exemptions available under section 33 of FRS 102.
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Our trustees

The trustees determine the charity’s strategic 
aims and assess the suitability of projects for 
the charity. Some have links within the NHS, 
while others have expertise in a wide range of 
fields including law and investments. 

Mr James Thorne, Chairman, is 
a former partner and is now a 
consultant at the law firm Farrer 
& Co which he joined in 1981. 
Since retiring as a partner he has 
been involved with several arts, 
education and health charities.  
He is now the chairman of a 
school and trustee of a grant-
making charity, both in Kent.

Dr Junaid Bajwa is a practising 
GP, a non-executive director at 
UCLH and holds senior academic 
posts at UCL and Harvard. He has 
a special interest in the use of 
technology and data to improve 
patient outcomes and has worked 
with NHS England on data 
analytics and AI projects as well 
providing consultancy overseas.

Lord Hemphill is a director 
of Waverton Investment 
Management Limited. He 
has worked in investment 
management firms for over  
35 years and chairs the investment 
sub-committee. He serves as a 
trustee of charitable and family 
trusts and was formerly chairman 
of the board of governors at  
St. Mary’s School Ascot.

Mr Nigel Keen is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, and the Institute of 
Engineering and Technology.  
He is the chairman of various health 
and technology organisations 
which include Syncona 
Investment Management Limited, 
Oxford University Innovation, 
Oxford Academic Health Science 
Network, Deltex Medical plc and 
MedAccess Guarantee Limited.

Prof Donald Peebles is a Professor 
of Maternal Fetal Medicine in the 
UCL Institute for Women’s Health, 
Divisional Clinical Director for 
Women’s Health at UCLH as well 
as Clinical Director of the London 
Maternity Network. He has a 
number of research interests 
that focus on improving the 
outcomes for women and their 
babies following complicated 
pregnancies.

Prof Mervyn Singer is a Professor 
of Intensive Care Medicine at  
UCL and a National Institute 
Health Research Senior 
Investigator. His research focuses 
on sepsis, multi-organ failure, 
innovative monitors, diagnostics 
and drugs. He co-chaired the 
Sepsis Redefinitions International 
Task Force whose research article 
and recommendations were 
extensively discussed worldwide. 

Mrs Nikki Williams-Ellis MBE, 
chairs the property sub-
committee. She has extensive 
experience in the charitable 
sector, in particular working with 
children and adults with learning 
difficulties. She has over 35 years 
of expertise in the commercial 
and residential property sectors 
and founded a charity that built, 
and runs, the first international 
cricket stadium in Rwanda.
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